NO. 47030-6-II

**COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
DIVISION II**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

CHARLES S. LONGSHORE, III,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**John A. Hays, No. 16654
Attorney for Appellant**

**1402 Broadway
Suite 103
Longview, WA 98632
(360) 423-3084**

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

1. The defendant's convictions should be reversed and the charges dismissed based upon prosecutorial misconduct because the state knowingly called a witness to present perjured testimony thereby denying the defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment.

2. The trial court erred and denied the defendant the right to a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, when it gave an accomplice instruction over the defendant's objection because no evidence supported a conclusion that the defendant acted as an accomplice to another person.

3. The trial court erred when it refused to dismiss the charges because the state's failure to preserve critical, exculpatory evidence denied the defendant due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

1. Should a defendant's convictions be reversed and the charges dismissed for prosecutorial misconduct if the state knowingly calls a witness to present perjured testimony thereby denying the defendant a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment?

2. Does a trial court err and deny a defendant the right to a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, if it gives an accomplice instruction over the defendant's objection when no evidence adduced at trial supports a conclusion that the defendant acted as an accomplice to another person?

3. Does a trial court err if it refuses to dismiss a case when the state's failure to preserve critical, exculpatory evidence denies the defendant due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

*Factual History*¹

Up to the end of May of 2012, Robert “Bobby” Raphael lived with his girlfriend Kristina Selwyn in the house at 211 Harvard Street in Shelton, Washington. RP XI 1796-1799.² During that period of time Mr. Raphael supported himself and his girlfriend by dealing drugs, principally methamphetamine, although he also sold some marijuana. RP XI 1796-1797, 1863-1865. In his work as a drug dealer Mr. Raphael sold drugs directly to users. *Id.* He also had friends and acquaintances sell methamphetamine for him. *Id.* On some of these occasions he would “front” the methamphetamine to those selling for him and those dealers would then pay Mr. Raphael from the proceeds of their sales. *Id.* Every few days Mr. Raphael would himself purchase methamphetamine at the multiple ounce levels from his suppliers. *Id.*

In his employment as a drug dealer Mr. Raphael would occasionally

¹Except as specifically noted, the version of events upon which this Statement of Facts is based is that version Mr. Robert “Bobby” Raphael gave during trial when he was called as a witness for the state.

²The record on appeal includes 16 volumes of continuously number verbatim reports identified in roman numerals I, II, III through XVI. They are referred to herein as “RP [volume #] [page #].” There is one further volume identified as “Supplemental.” It is referred to herein as “RP SUP [page #].”

take property, including firearms, as payment for drugs in lieu of cash. RP XI 1824-1825. He would then sell the items for cash. *Id.* In addition, as with most other drugs dealers, Mr. Raphael would periodically end up with lower level dealers or drug users who would fail to pay for the drugs or property he either fronted or sold them. RP XI 1864-1868, Although most drug dealers in this situation would use “enforcers” or “tax collectors” to coerce payment on outstanding debts, Mr. Raphael claimed that he did not participate in any such conduct. RP XI 1868.

According to Mr. Raphael, his girlfriend Ms Selwyn, a friend by the name of Tyler Drake, and an acquaintance by the name of Anitrea Taber were three of the people who sold drugs for him and to whom he also provided methamphetamine for personal use. RP XI 1796-1797, 1864-1865. Mr. Raphael described Mr. Drake as a close friend who lived with him for about six months at 211 Harvard Street, after which Mr. Drake moved into the mobile home at 213 Harvard, which sits directly behind Mr. Raphael’s house and is accessed by driving down the dirt alley off of 3rd Street. RP XI 1796-1797. By May of 2013 Mr. Drake had lived in the residence at 213 Harvard Street for six or seven months and Mr. Raphael would visit Mr. Drake in his residence three or four times a week. RP XI 1799. Mr. Raphael also explained that he had originally met Ms Taber by selling her drugs, after which they became friends. She then started selling drugs for him. In fact

they had both worked at the same place during the time she was selling drugs for him. She went by the nickname of “Roxy.” RP XI 1796-1797

About three days prior to May 28, 2012, Mr. Raphael became acquainted with the defendant Charles Longshore when he purchased a Chevrolet Tahoe that Mr. Longshore was selling. RP XI 1801. In fact, he and Mr. Longshore went to Mr. Longshore’s mother’s house on the Squaxin Indian Reservation to retrieve the vehicle. RP XI 1802-1803. They ended up coming back into town to get a battery to put in the Tahoe. *Id.* Once they returned and got it running, Mr. Raphael paid the defendant with \$200.00 worth of methamphetamine and \$300.00 in cash for the vehicle. *Id.* Mr. Raphael then drove the Tahoe to the area between 211 and 213 Harvard Street, fixed a damaged fender, and attached a small camp trailer to the back. RP XI 1802-1803.

The next day on May 26th the defendant showed up at Mr. Raphael’s house and asked to buy some methamphetamine. RP XI 1805. Normally Mr Raphael wouldn’t sell to someone who didn’t call beforehand. *Id.* However, did agree to sell the defendant an “8 ball” of methamphetamine for \$200. *Id.* An “8 ball” is 3.75 grams. *Id.* A person by the name of Shane Vandervort was with the defendant that day. *Id.* They were together in Mr. Raphael’s house for about 10 or 15 minutes for the sale. *Id.*

At about 1:00 pm the next day on the 27th the defendant again came

to Mr. Raphael's house, this time as a passenger in a vehicle driven by a 17-year-old young woman by the name of Tammy Aust. RP XI 1806-1807. On this occasion the defendant asked Mr. Raphael if there was anything he could do for him to earn some money with which to buy methamphetamine. *Id.* Mr. Raphael responded by taking the defendant into the camp trailer hitched to the Tahoe, giving the defendant a .40 caliber Lorcin pistol, and telling him that if he could sell the weapon Mr. Raphael would give him some of the proceeds from the sale or some drugs. RP XI 1807. The defendant agreed and took the gun, giving Mr. Raphael a tool box and an eagle feather as security. RP XI 1813. Prior to leaving, Mr. Raphael, the defendant and Ms Aust used methamphetamine together. RP XI 1807. In fact, Mr. Raphael specifically took them into the trailer because his children were visiting in the house and he did not want to use drugs in front of them. RP XI 1813.

Later that evening, the defendant returned with the gun and gave it back to Mr. Raphael as he had been unable to sell it. RP 1815-1816, 1818. The two of them then entered the camp trailer and Mr. Raphael put the pistol in a cupboard. *Id.* However, prior to putting it in the trailer Mr. Raphael took the defendant outside and had him shoot one shot into the ground to verify that it worked. *Id.* After putting the pistol in the trailer, Mr. Raphael and the defendant then went over to the back house, so Mr. Raphael could sell Tyler Drake some methamphetamine. RP XI 1819.

“Roxy” Taber was also present with Mr. Drake when Mr. Raphael and the defendant entered. RP XI 1819. Once inside Mr. Raphael reminded Roxy that she owed him money for methamphetamine he had fronted her and for property he had given her such as coins, cameras and a surveillance system she was going to try to sell. RP XI 1821-1822. The defendant was with him when he made these comments. *Id.* In fact, prior to that day the defendant had offered to do “tax work” for Mr. Raphael, meaning collecting money from people who owed Mr. Raphael money for drugs. *Id.* After making these comments to Roxy, Mr. Raphael weighed out some methamphetamine, put it in a pipe and everybody smoked it together. RP XI 1824-1825. After smoking the methamphetamine Mr. Raphael asked Roxy if she had any money. RP XI 1826. She responded that she didn’t have any money and that paying Mr. Raphael wasn’t a priority for her. *Id.* Mr. Raphael told her that it “needed to become a priority.” *Id.* Upon hearing this she asked if Mr. Raphael was threatening her and he said no. *Id.* Mr. Raphael later stated that it was “pretty much just talking tough - an empty threat.” *Id.*

Once Mr. Raphael returned to his house Kristina became mad because Roxy had not paid the debt she owed. RP XI 1830-1832. Kristina and a friend who was present then walked to the back house to confront Roxy, with Kristina saying that she wanted to “kick Roxy’s ass.” RP XI 1830-1831. Mr.

Raphael went with them. *Id.* However, when they knocked on the door and asked Roxy to come out she refused. RP XI 1832. The defendant was standing in the yard between the houses when this happened. RP XI 1835. While Mr. Raphael was standing in the doorway talking to Roxy, the defendant pushed past him, walked up to Roxy, who was sitting at the Kitchen table, and started yelling at her that it was his money and his dope and that she needed to pay, even though it was actually Mr. Raphael's drugs and money she had taken. RP XI 1835-1838. The defendant then pulled out a pistol and hit Roxy on the side of the head with it. *Id.* This was the first that Mr. Raphael even knew that the defendant had the gun with him. *Id.* In fact, according to Mr. Raphael, when he went back to talk with Roxy he did not have a gun, he did not intend to shoot anyone, and he did not intend to harm or kill anyone. RP XI 1835. Furthermore he had not asked the defendant to collect any debts for him and he had not offered the defendant any money or methamphetamine to collect any debts for him. RP XI 1874

When the defendant struck Roxy on the side of the head the gun discharged. RP XI 1835-1838. Mr. Raphael didn't think the bullet hit anyone. RP XI 1836-1840. After the gun went off the defendant took a little step back, pointed the gun at Roxy, and shot her through the head killing her. *Id.* The defendant then swivelled and shot Mr. Drake in the back, killing him. *Id.* When the defendant pulled the gun out Mr. Raphael recognized it

as the pistol he had put back in the camper after the defendant had been unable to sell it. RP XI 1836-1838. At this point Mr. Raphael “freaked out” and asked the defendant “what are you doing?” The defendant responded by saying he wanted “no witnesses.” RP XI 1838-1840. According to Mr. Raphael, he had no idea that the defendant had the pistol when he went into Mr. Drake’s house, and he certainly did not ask the defendant to take any actions to try to collect the debt Roxy owed him or to in any way threaten, intimidate or harm either Roxy or Mr. Drake. RP XI 1835-1840.

Following the shooting Mr. Raphael then left the back house, returned to his house, called 911 to report a shooting, and then pulled the battery out of the cell phone. RP XI 1840-1841. At this point Mr. Raphael got rid of the methamphetamine he had. *Id.* A short time later the police arrived, and Mr. Raphael told them that he had not called 911 and that he had not heard any shots. RP XI 1844-1845. By this time the police had entered the back house and discovered the bodies. *Id.* A short time later the defendant returned to an intersection by the house and gave a short statement to the police denying any knowledge of the shooting. RP XII 2058-2062. He then left. *Id.* While the police were talking to the defendant Mr. Raphael returned to his house and thereafter refused to come out. RP XI 1846-1847. Later that morning the police got a search warrant, entered Mr. Raphael’s house, placed him under arrest, and took him to jail. *Id.*

Three days later on June 1, 2012, the police arrested the defendant when he returned to Mason County after fleeing to Portland and then Pendleton. RP XIII 2127-2128. The defendant thereafter gave a lengthy recorded statement to the police, which he later admitted was false, as was his first statement to them. RP XIII 2065, 2131-2132, 2145. On June 4 the defendant gave another lengthy recorded statement to the police. RP XIII 2145, 2147-2148, 2150, 2158, 2164, 2167. Although the defendant's statements changed on each occasion he spoke with the police, his last statement was that he was present in the kitchen of Mr. Taber's residence when he saw Mr. Raphael pull out a pistol, hit Roxy with it causing the pistol to discharge and that he then saw Mr. Raphael shoot Roxy in the back of the head and saw him then shoot Mr. Drake in the back. RP XIII 2058-2060. The defendant denied that he went into the back house with Mr. Raphael to intimidate or harm anyone. RP XIII 2076-2077, 2139-2144. According to the defendant, he then left the residence and agreed to hide the pistol at Mr. Raphael's request. RP XIII 2059-2060.

Procedural History

By information filed May 30, 2013, the Mason County Prosecutor charged the defendant Charles S. Longshore, III, with two counts of aggravated first degree murder of Anitrea "Roxy" Taber and Tyler Drake. CP 754-755. The state alleged the following aggravators in both charges:

[T]he Defendant committed the murder to conceal the commission of a crime or to protect or conceal the identity of any person committing a crime; and/or there was more than one victim and the murders were part of a common scheme or plan or the result of a single act of the Defendant; and/or the murder was committed in the course of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from robbery in the first or second degree; and/or the murder was committed in the course of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from a burglary in the first or second degree, or residential burglary . . .

CP 754-755.

On July 11th, July 13th and July 16th, 2013, the court later held a CrR 3.5 hearing on the admissibility of the defendant's three statements to the police given on May 28th, June 1st and June 4th of the previous year. RP I 1-155; RP II 156-345; RP III 346-370. Ultimately the court entered the following findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to those hearings.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. On May 28, 2012 police officers respond to a complaint of shots fired at 213 W. Harvard Ave in Shelton and find two deceased adults with apparent gunshot wounds. Sergeant Heldreth and Detective Moran speak to witnesses at the scene. Responding police officers cordon off the crime scene with police tape. During this time a vehicle arrives with three occupants and attempts to drive through the police tape. The vehicle is stopped. The driver of the vehicle is identified as David Velkov. The Defendant is a passenger in the vehicle. The police officers ask the Defendant to identify himself. The Defendant initially identifies himself as "Steven" and then the Defendant identifies himself as "Jason Longshore.", who is actually the Defendant's brother. Jason Longshore had an active warrant out for his arrest; this results in the Defendant's removal from the vehicle and arrest on the warrant. Tami Aust is the third passenger in the vehicle and she is also arrested for a juvenile court warrant. After the Defendant exited David Velkov's vehicle, Sergeant Heldreth recognizes the Defendant as Charles Longshore. The Defendant

eventually acknowledges that he is in fact Charles Longshore. After correctly identifying the Defendant the police determine that the Defendant has a non-extraditable misdemeanor warrant. Sergeant Heldreth asks the Defendant where he was headed. The Defendant responds that he was on his way to Bobby's house to buy drugs. The Defendant is asked if he has any money. The Defendant responds that he did not have his wallet on him. The Defendant is asked if he would provide a statement to a detective. The Defendant agrees.

2. Detective Moran conducts the May 28, 2012 initial interview of the Defendant. Detective Moran approaches the Defendant and removes his cuffs and escorts the Defendant to Detective Moran's vehicle. The interview takes place in Detective Moran's vehicle to avoid rain and distractive noise. The Defendant is seated in the front passenger seat. Other police officers are present around the crime scene, but their focus is not on the Defendant and they do not accompany Detective Moran and the Defendant to Detective Moran's vehicle. The doors to the vehicle are unlocked. The Defendant is not under arrest. Detective Moran informs the Defendant that he does not have to provide a statement and that the Defendant is free to leave. Detective Moran asks the Defendant if he would agree to provide a voluntary statement. The Defendant agrees. Detective Moran gives the Defendant witness interview warnings consisting of an acknowledgment that the conversation would be recorded. The Defendant agrees to allow the conversation to be recorded. The interview between Detective Moran and Charles Longshore was non-confrontational.

3. At the later stage of the interview Sgt. Fiola interrupts the interview by knocking on the window to notify Detective Moran that they (SPD) have obtained a search warrant for the house containing two bodies. Wes Stockwell, Mason County Coroner accompanied Sgt Fiola. After this interruption, the Defendant informs Detective Moran that he wants an attorney and he wants out of the vehicle. Detective Moran halts the interview and escorts the Defendant back to Mr. Velkov's vehicle where the Defendant obtains a ride from Mr. Velkov away from the scene.

4. The next statement concerns a June 1, 2012 statement by the Defendant to Detective Rhoades at the Shelton Police Department after his arrest for two counts of aggravated murder in the first degree.

On June 1 the Defendant is arrested pursuant to a warrant and brought to the Shelton Police Department for an interview. This interview takes place in a small interview room with one door, a table, three chairs and a two-way mirror with the capacity to record audio and video. Present are Detective Rhoades, Detective Kostad, and the Defendant. Detective Rhoades uses a hand-held recording device simultaneous with the interview room's audio and video equipment. The Defendant is wearing civilian clothing and he is in handcuffs. Detective Rhoades and Kostad are both in plain clothes, but each is armed. Detective Rhoades begins the interview by reading the Defendant his Miranda Rights. Half-way through the reading of Miranda rights, at the moment Detective Rhoades states "if you cannot afford to hire a lawyer, one will be appointed to represent you before any questioning, if you wish," the Defendant interrupts and asks "how quick can that be done?" Detective Rhoades states "hang on just one second" and completes recitation of the Defendants Miranda rights. Detective Rhoades advises the Defendant that he would not have an attorney appointed until he went to court later that day. Detective Rhoades then states: "having your rights (in) mind, do you wish to answer questions?" The Defendant acknowledges that he understands his rights and agrees to speak with detectives.

5. During the June 1 interview the Defendant mentions the use of drugs and states he is under the influence. The detectives do not believe the Defendant is under the influence. The detectives testified that they had received training regarding identifying symptoms consistent with being under the influence of drugs and they did not observe the Defendant to be under the influence. Throughout the interview the Defendant's responses to questions demonstrate that he understood the questions.

6. During the course of the interview several interruptions take place and the recording devices are turned off intermittently for smoke breaks, including one lengthy break. During these breaks the Detectives testified that they used the time to check up on what the Defendant was telling them. During the lengthy break the Defendant is placed in a holding cell. However, there is not a significant break in questioning and the Defendant does not leave the premises. The Defendant instigates conversation after each break.

7. After one of these breaks Detective Rhoades informs the

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