COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

CHARLES S. LONGSHORE, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County The Honorable Amber L. Finlay, Judge

No. 12-1-00219-3

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL DORCY
Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

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

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

This evidence included Mr. Raphael's claims that (1) he did not solicit the defendant to act as a "tax collector," (2) that he did not know that the defendant had the pistol on the last occasion that he entered house at 213 Harvard Street, (3) that he did not intend any harm to either Anitrea Taber and Tyler Drake, (4) that he in no way solicited the defendant's action, and (5) that he was shocked when the defendant committed these crimes.

Br. of Appellant at 28. Again, Longshore does not provide citations to the record to support these assertions. The State will address each of these five factual assertions separately, as follows.

First, it is probably irrelevant on the facts of this case whether Raphael solicited Longshore to commit these murders. Solicitation could be one means of establishing Raphael's accomplice liability (or might be important to a charge of conspiracy, if there were such a charge in this case), but solicitation is not an essential element of accomplice liability, as accomplice liability can also be established when an accomplice encourages another person to commit the crime or when he or she "[a]ids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing" the crime. RCW 9A.08.020(3). Here, as identified throughout the State's brief, there was ample evidence that Raphael encouraged and aided Longshore to commit a robbery, burglary, or intimidation in order to collect a drug debt for Raphael. Even if Raphael did not intend that Longshore murder Mr. Drake and Ms. Tabor, he was nevertheless an accomplice.

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

Raphael testified that he and Longshore discussed the fact that Longshore wanted to earn money for drugs by doing tax work for him.

RP XI 1806, 1809-10, 1822, 1867. As compensation, Longshore wanted to keep half of whatever he was able to collect for Raphael. RP XI 1822.

Raphael testified that he told Longshore that he would not pay him half.

RP XI 1822. Thus, they had no firm agreement in regards to payment. RP XI 1822, 1869. Raphael testified that the compensation rate was left openended, but that if Longshore had succeeded in collecting some money for him, Raphael would have payed him by giving him drugs or money or something. RP XI 1900-02.

Raphael further testified that he and Longshore went together to the house where Anitrea Taber and Tyler Drake were waiting to buy drugs from Raphael, and that once there, Raphael quietly informed Longshore that Ms. Taber was "the one" who owned him money. RP XI 1824.

When the prosecutor asked Raphael why he told Longshore that Ms. Taber was "the one" who owed him money, Raphael testified that it was "[b]ecause if he was going to do any collecting for me that, you know, that would be the person to collect from." RP XI 1825; RP XI 1896. Later in the evening, Longshore murdered Ms. Taber by shooting her with a pistol and then murdered Mr. Drake to eliminate him as a witness. RP XI 1836-39.

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

From these facts, Longshore contends that the prosecutor elicited false testimony because, he contends, he did not solicit Longshore to do tax work for him. Br. of Appellant at 28. But again, it is not necessary that Raphael solicited Longshore to do tax work in order to constitute accomplice liability. RCW 9A.08.020. Nor is it important whether Longshore solicited Raphael. *Id.* Nor is an agreement between Longshore and Raphael necessary to establish Raphael's accomplice liability. *Id.*

Longshore next contends, as item (2), that the prosecutor knowingly elicited false testimony that Raphael "did not know that the defendant had the pistol on the last occasion that he entered house at 213 Harvard Street[.]" Br. of Appellant at 28. But this assertion of fact bears little relevance to Raphael's accomplice liability and bears no relevance to Longshore's culpability for his own crimes of conviction. Still more, there is no evidence in the record from which it can be fairly asserted that the statement is untrue.

Longshore next asserts, as item (3), that the prosecutor knowingly elicited false testimony that Raphael "did not intend any harm of either Anitrea Taber [or] Tyler Drake[.]" Br. of Appellant at 28. But this assertion of fact is irrelevant to Longshore's crimes of conviction, and still more, there is no citation to the record to support any finding that the statement is conclusively untrue. The totality of the facts and State's Response Brief

Mason County Prosecutor Case No. 47030-6-II

PO Box 639

- 5 -

Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417 circumstances show that it is most likely that Raphael merely hoped that Longshore would intimidate Ms. Taber into repaying her debt (thus committing what would by law constitute a robbery), and that he was surprised when Longshore instead murdered Ms. Taber and Mr. Drake.

Longshore next asserts, as item (4), that the prosecutor knowingly elicited false testimony that Raphael "in no way solicited the defendant's action[.]" Br. of Appellant at 28. But as discussed above, solicitation is irrelevant to this case. Still more, there is no citation to the record to sustain a conclusive finding that the statement is untrue. Certainly, there is no citation to suggest that Raphael solicited Longshore to murder Ms. Taber and Mr. Drake. And, it is at most in dispute as to whether Longshore solicited Raphael for the opportunity to do tax work for him or whether, to the contrary, it was Raphael who solicited Longshore to do tax work. Still more, as argued above, the element of solicitation is irrelevant to either defendant's crimes of conviction.

Finally, Longshore last asserts, as item (5), that the prosecutor knowingly elicited false testimony that Raphael "was shocked when [Longshore] committed these crimes." Br. of Appellant at 28. But again, Longshore has not provided any reason to doubt the truth of this

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

statement. In fact, it appears from review of Raphael's entire testimony he was in fact surprised that Longshore murdered Ms. Tabor and Mr. Drake.

Even though Longshore has not shown any false testimony, he nevertheless asserts an inference of falsity based partly on the fact that the State offered, and Raphael accepted, a plea bargain in exchange for his trial testimony. Br. of Appellant at 28. But this plea agreement was fully disclosed to Longshore, the court, and the jury. RP XI 1793-95, 1861-62; Ex. 200. Longshore cites *Giglio v. U.S.*, 405 U.S. 150, 92 S.Ct. 763, 31 L.Ed.2d 104 (1972), to support his legal assertions on this issue. But *Giglio* is dissimilar to the instant case because in *Giglio* the prosecutor allowed false testimony by allowing a witness to testify falsely that he had not received a plea bargain in exchange for his testimony, and in *Giglio* the prosecutor then repeated the claim in closing arguments. *Id.* at 150-52. These facts do not resemble the facts of the instant case.

Longshore next asserts that the prosecutor in closing arguments "explicitly stated that Mr. Raphael had given false testimony in this case." Br. of Appellant at 28. Longshore then provides quoted language from the prosecutor's rebuttal closing argument, but nowhere in the quoted language does the prosecutor explicitly state what Longshore contends, nor does the prosecutor implicitly make any such statement.

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

In summary, Longshore alleges that his due process rights were violated because, he asserts, the prosecutor committed misconduct by knowingly allowing false testimony. But the record does not support Longshore's assertion. "[T]he right to a fair trial includes the exclusion of perjured testimony." State v. Statler, 160 Wn. App. 622, 641, 248 P.3d 165 (2011). But here, as in Statler, "no perjury has been established." Id. "Moreover," as in Statler, "credibility determinations are left for the trier of fact." Id., citing State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). Furthermore, as in *Statler*, the court in the instant case "instructed the jury to use caution when relying on testimony from an accomplice." Statler at 641; CP 109 (Jury Instruction No. 10). As was the witness in Statler, the witness here, Raphael, "testified to his version of the events and was tested on cross examination[;]" and, "[t]he jury had to determine whether there was perjured testimony, and apparently rejected the defense arguments." Id. at 641-42; see also, State v. Larson, 160 Wn. App. 577, 594-95, 249 P.3d 669 (2011).

In conclusion, the State contends that Longshore's assertion of proscutorial misconduct on these facts is unsupported by the record and is contrary to controlling caselaw.

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

2. The trial court did not err by providing a WPIC 6.05
Accomplice Testimony instruction to the jury in this case,
because a primary part of the evidence against Longshore
was the testimony of Robert Raphael, who was an accomplice
and who testified against Longshore in satisfaction of the terms
of a plea bargain. On these facts, the trial court would have
erred had it not give the WPIC 6.05 instruction.

Longshore asserts error based upon the trial court's decision to provide to the jury instruction based on WPIC 6.05 (Testimony of an Accomplice) and WPIC 10.51 (Accomplice – Definition). Br. of Appellant at 30-38. To support his arguments, Longshore presents arguments that suggest that he was an accomplice to Raphael, or that they were accomplices to each other, but that there was insufficient evidence to establish that either of them were accomplices.

In response, the State points out that the prosecutor did not charge Longshore as an accomplice. CP 754-55 (Information). Nor was the jury instructed that it could find Longshore guilty as an accomplice. CP 97-126 (Court's Instructions to the Jury). When the parties addressed the question of jury instructions with the court, the prosecutor specifically stated that the State was not alleging accomplice liability against Longshore. RP XIV 2226-27. Longshore asserts that "the [S]tate proposed an accomplice instruction so it could argue that both [Longshore] and Mr. Raphael were guilty of the crimes charged because

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

they both acted as accomplices to each other and both acted with the same intent to cause the deaths of Anitrea Taber and Tyler Drake." Br. of Appellant at 36. In response, the State contends that the record does not support Longshore's assertion on this point.

Instead, the record shows that the prosecutor specifically did not assert that Longshore was an accomplice in regards to the crimes for which Longshore was charged and convicted – two counts of aggravated first-degree murder. RP XIV 2226-27; CP 90-94, 754-755. To the contrary, when explaining that he was not alleging accomplice liability against Longshore, the prosecutor acknowledged that theoretically Longshore could arguably be an accomplice to uncharged crimes (such as burglary, intimidation, assault, or robbery), but that he was charged only with aggravated murder in the first degree, for which he acted alone. RP XIV 2226-27.

However, Raphael was nevertheless an accomplice to felony crimes that involved Longshore, because he encouraged or aided Longshore to intimidate Ms. Tabor and to extort a payment from her. RP XI 1806-07, 1821-25, 1867-69. The evidence does not show Raphael knew or expected that Longshore would murder Ms. Taber or that he would murder Mr. Drake to cover up the crime. Still, because Raphael

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

was an accomplice and because he offered testimony against Longshore, the trial court gave the WPIC 6.05, Testimony of Accomplice, jury instruction. RP XI 2220-23, 2223, 2239-40; CP 109 (Jury Instruction No. 10). Then, because the court gave WPIC 6.05, it then gave WPIC 10.51 (Accomplice – Definition). RP XI 2239-40, 2333; CP 110 (Jury Instruction No. 11).

Contrary to Longshore's assertions, the evidence against him in this case consisted of more than merely Raphael's testimony. Other evidence included the testimony of Tammy Aust (to whom Longshore admitted having committed the murders) (RP XI 1929-35), Longshore's flight (indicating consciousness of guilt) (RP VIII 1326-57; RP XIII 2127-28), and Longshore's efforts to dispose of the murder weapon (RP XI 1939-41, 1956-58).

Thus, there was substantial corroborating evidence in this case other than Raphael's testimony. Even when substantial corroborating evidence exists, however, it is always the better practice for the trial court to give the cautionary instruction embodied at WPIC 6.05 whenever accomplice testimony is introduced. *State v. Harris*, 102 Wn.2d 148, 155, 685 P.2d 584, 588 (1984) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Brown*, 111 Wn.2d 124, 761 P.2d 588 (1988).

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

3. The trial court did not err by not dismissing the case based upon Longshore's assertion that the State failed to preserve material, exculpatory evidence, because the materialioty of the evidence was speculative, at best, and there was no showing that the evidence was exculpatory.

Here, Longshore contends that the trial court erred by not dismissing the case based on Longshore's assertion that the State failed to preserve material, exculpatory evidence. Br. of Appellant at 40-42. Longshore's contention is based upon his assertion that officers at the Mason County jail laundered the clothes that Raphael was wearing when he was booked into the jail after being arrested for his involvement in the murders that Longshore committed. *Id*.

It is undisputed and well-settled law that the prosecution has a duty to disclose "material exculpatory evidence" and a related duty to "preserve such evidence for use by the defense." *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963); *United States v. Agurs*, 427 U.S. 97, 96 S.Ct. 2392, 49 L.Ed.2d 342 (1976); *State v. Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d 467, 475, 880 P.2d 517 (1994).

The State's failure to disclose or preserve material exculpatory evidence, if the failure prejudices the due process rights of the accused, will result in dismissal of criminal charge. *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 475 ("It is clear that if the State has failed to preserve "material")

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

exculpatory evidence" criminal charges must be dismissed"). However, there is a clear and important distinction between "material exculpatory evidence" and "potentially useful evidence." Recognizing that the right to due process is limited, however, the Court has been unwilling to "impos[e] on the police an undifferentiated and absolute duty to retain and to preserve all material that might be of conceivable evidentiary significance in a particular prosecution." *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51, 58, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988).

A showing that the evidence might have exonerated the defendant is not enough. In order to be considered "material exculpatory evidence", the evidence must possess *both* an exculpatory value that was apparent before it was destroyed and be of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means. *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479, 489, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984). *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d, 475.

A due process violation will only be found if the State (1) destroyed or otherwise failed to preserve material exculpatory evidence, or (2) in bad faith destroyed or otherwise failed to preserve potentially useful evidence.

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

Contrary to the arguments advanced by the defendant, the evidence at issue here falls, at best, into the "potentially useful" category. Nothing about Raphael's clothing or trace amounts of *potential* DNA material is material or exculpatory on its face. Unlike material exculpatory evidence, dismissal in a case where the State allegedly fails to preserve potentially useful evidence is only warranted if the defendant can prove that the State acted in bad faith. State v. Wittenbarger at 477. As explained by the Washington Supreme Court, there is no due process violation absent bad faith if the State fails to preserve "evidentiary material of which no more can be said than that it could have been subjected to tests, the results of which might have exonerated the defendant." State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 868, 822 P.2d 177 (1991). See also, State v. Smith, 130 Wn.2d 215, 225, 922 P.2d 811 (1996) (unless the police act in bad faith, there is no denial of due process in failing to preserve potentially useful evidence that is not materially exculpatory).

"[The] dismissal of a criminal prosecution in the furtherance of justice is an extraordinary remedy," *State v. Cantrell*, 111 Wn.2d 385, 388, 758 P.2d 1 (1988), and consequently the defendant bears a heavy burden to prove that the State violated his due process rights by acting in

State's Response Brief Case No. 47030-6-II

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